

Workforce Development 'TIPS'

Theory Into Practice Strategies

A Resource Kit for the Alcohol and Other Drugs Field



GOAL SETTING

Workforce Development 'TIPS'

Theory Into Practice Strategies

Edited by Natalie Skinner Ann M. Roche John O'Connor Yvette Pollard Chelsea Todd



GOAL SETTING

© Alcohol Education and Rehabilitation Foundation Ltd (AER) 2005

ISBN 1 876897 06 6

The text in this document and corresponding electronic files available on the NCETA website may be used, modified and adapted for non-commercial purposes. It is not necessary to seek permission from AER and/or NCETA to use the materials for non-commercial purposes. The source of the material must be acknowledged as the National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA).

Suggested Citation:

Skinner, N. (2005). Goal Setting. In N. Skinner, A.M. Roche, J. O'Connor, Y. Pollard, & C. Todd (Eds.), *Workforce Development TIPS (Theory Into Practice Strategies): A Resource Kit for the Alcohol and Other Drugs Field.* National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia.

www.nceta.flinders.edu.au

Printed on Recycled paper – Monza Satin Recycled Art 100gsm Design and layout by Inprint Design, Adelaide. Ph: 08 8201 3223. (IPD 2962)

Funded by the Alcohol Education and Rehabilitation Foundation Ltd, with additional support provided by the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, the South Australian Department of Health and the Drug & Alcohol Services South Australia.





Australian Government
Department of Health and Ageing



Department of Health



ABOUT THE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT TIPS RESOURCE KIT

This Resource Kit aims to provide straightforward and practical guidance, tools and resources to support workforce development activities and initiatives in the Alcohol and Other Drugs (AOD) field.

The Resource Kit comprises 14 chapters: an introduction to workforce development and 13 workforce development topics relevant to the AOD field. Each chapter contains evidence-based strategies to address a particular workforce development issue, as well as resources and tools that can be used to implement the strategies. Each chapter can be treated as a stand alone section, however, as workforce development topics are inherently interrelated, links between chapters are identified throughout the Kit.

Goal Setting is the 5th chapter in the Resource Kit.

CHAPTER

- 1 An Introduction to Workforce Development
- 2 Clinical Supervision
- 3 Developing Effective Teams
- 4 Evaluating AOD Projects and Programs

5 Goal Setting

- 6 Mentoring
- 7 Organisational Change
- 8 Performance Appraisal
- 9 Professional Development
- 10 Recruitment and Selection
- 11 Retention
- 12 Worker Performance
- 13 Worker Wellbeing
- 14 Workplace Support



Acknowledgements

This project was funded by the Alcohol Education and Rehabilitation Foundation (AER), with additional support provided by the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, the South Australian Department of Health, and Drug and Alcohol Services South Australia. The production of the Resource Kit has involved the input, support and collaboration of many players and partners.

The principal editors of the Kit were Dr Natalie Skinner and Professor Ann Roche. Additional editorial support was provided by Dr John O'Connor, Yvette Pollard and Chelsea Todd.

The authors and editors would like to gratefully acknowledge the feedback and input received from the Project Reference Group. Input from these contributors has enabled comprehensive AOD experience and relevance to be incorporated into the Resource Kit.

Project Reference Group

Kieran Connolly	Education and Training Contract Manager, Turning Point Drug and Alcohol Centre, Melbourne, Victoria
Katherine Gado	Acting Senior Adviser, Drugs of Dependence Unit, Queensland Health
Bill Goodin	Lecturer/Researcher, Faculty of Nursing, University of Sydney
Trish Heath	Senior Education Officer, Drug and Alcohol Office, WA
John Howard	Director Clinical Services, Training and Research, Ted Noffs Foundation, NSW
Terry Huriwai	Project Manager AOD, New Zealand Ministry of Health
Karen Lenihan	Manager, Population Health and Infrastructure Development, Centre for Drug and Alcohol, NSW Health
Diana McConachy	Manager, Workforce Development Program, Network of Alcohol and Other Drugs Agencies (NADA), NSW

Thanks also to Dr James Guinan (Northern Sydney Health), Sally Laurie (Uniting Care Moreland Hall), and Kate Marotta (Department of Human Services Victoria) for providing their AOD specific programs and experiences to be used as Case Studies.

In addition to the editors and project reference group, an important role was played by a team of NCETA staff who worked on editing, design, development and overall production of the Kit. They are Yvette Pollard, Chelsea Todd, Anna McKinnon and Belinda Lunnay. The final editorial team comprised Ann Roche, Yvette Pollard and Chelsea Todd.

GOAL SETTING

Natalie Skinner

Table of Contents

Overview	2
Introduction	4
The language of goal setting: Goals and objectives	4
How does goal setting work?	4
Features of effective goal setting	4
1. Set specific and challenging goals and objectives	5
2. Build and support workers' commitment to achieving the goal and objectives	6
3. Provide feedback on achievement of shorter-term objectives, as well as final	
goal achievement	8
4. Provide rewards and recognition for achieving shorter-term objectives and	
final goal achievement	9
5. Ensure sufficient resources and support are available	11
6. Ensure workers have the appropriate knowledge, skills and abilities required to	
achieve the goal and objectives	11
Troubleshooting	11
Setting goals for client outcomes	11
The quantity / quality dilemma	12
Constructive responses to difficulties	12
Using goal setting to address workforce development challenges	13
Successfully managing organisational change	14
Supporting and motivating effective performance	14
Supporting and motivating effective teamwork	14
Summary	15
Resources for goal setting	15
References	16

Resources and Tools



Checklist for effective goal setting



F

Case Study: Using goal setting as a tool to improve client care

Forms and Templates

- Individual Goal Setting Tool
- Team Goal Setting Tool



Recommended Readings

GOAL SETTING

Overview

Goal setting is a valuable technique to support the effective performance of individual alcohol and other drug (AOD) workers and teams.

Goals appear in various forms in the workplace, including:

- Project deadlines and outcomes (products, deliverables)
- Best practice or performance standards
- Clinical guidelines for work practice (e.g., treatment guidelines).

Features of effective goal setting

Setting goals and objectives alone is not likely to enhance motivation or improve performance. In order for goal setting to be most effective, six strategies are recommended:

- 1. Set specific and challenging goals and objectives
- 2. Build and support workers' commitment to achieving the goal and objectives
- 3. Provide feedback on achievement of shorter-term objectives, as well as final goal achievement
- 4. Provide rewards and recognition for achieving shorter-term objectives and final goal achievement
- 5. Ensure sufficient resources and support are available
- 6. Ensure workers have the appropriate knowledge, skills and abilities required to achieve the goal and objectives.

The importance of a collaborative approach to goal setting

Approaching goal setting as a collaborative activity between workers and managers / supervisors can strengthen commitment and motivation.

Goals and objectives assigned by others (e.g., a supervisor) can sustain high commitment when:

- The individual assigning the goal is perceived to be trustworthy, knowledgeable and to have legitimate authority
- A rationale or explanation for the goal is provided
- Reward and recognition is provided for achievement of goals and objectives
- Support and encouragement are provided.

Troubleshooting

Setting goals for client outcomes

Improved client outcomes are a central goal for treatment providers in the AOD field. However, the relationship between the work practices of an individual or work team and client outcomes is often complicated, and can be difficult to assess fairly and accurately.

Give careful consideration to goal setting for client outcomes. The key principles of setting specific (measurable) goals that are challenging (but realistic) are particularly important. Where possible, negotiating with individual workers and teams to identify appropriate and realistic goals is also recommended.

The quantity / quality dilemma

A common goal setting dilemma is distinguishing between goals focused on the quantity of work (i.e., frequency of a task / behaviour performed) and goals focused on the quality of work (i.e., standard of work that reflects "best practice").

Effective goals include targets for *both* the quantity and quality of performance. If goal setting is focused only on quantity the quality of a worker's performance may suffer. The reverse is also likely to occur – goals that focus only on quality are likely to result in a decrease in the quantity of a worker's output.

Constructive responses to difficulties

Goal setting doesn't guarantee successful or satisfactory performance. Failure to achieve a goal is likely to result from a combination of factors related to:

- The work environment (e.g., availability of feedback and support)
- The individual worker or team (e.g., sufficient knowledge / skill)
- The goal itself (e.g., unrealistic expectations).

Constructive responses to difficulties with goal achievement include:

- Re-evaluating the goal (are the timeframes, outcomes etc. realistic?)
- Reviewing the supports and resources available (are they sufficient?)
- Assessing the strategies and techniques workers / teams are using to achieve the goal (are they appropriate, efficient, effective?)
- Considering the need for further professional development for workers and / or teams (do workers have sufficient knowledge, skill and confidence?).

Goal setting to address workforce development challenges

Used effectively, goal setting can be used to address a range of workforce development challenges such as organisational change, worker performance, and teamwork. The emphasis for effective goal setting is to:

- (1) Set challenging but realistic goals, and
- (2) Ensure feedback, support and rewards during the process of striving toward a goal.

Introduction

This chapter examines goal setting as a technique to support the effective performance of individual AOD workers and teams. Goal setting is a technique familiar to many AOD workers as a counselling technique. What is sometimes overlooked, however, is the value of goal setting as a motivational tool for workers themselves. In reality, goals appear in various forms within AOD work, including:

- Project deadlines and outcomes (products, deliverables)
- Targets for client loads
- Best practice or performance standards.

This chapter describes the most effective approach to managing work practice goals to support workers' motivation and capacity to perform effectively.

The language of goal setting: Goals and objectives

Goals are targets. They define the quantity and quality of work to be achieved. They are often placed within a particular timeframe. It is recommended that both longer-term goals and shorter-term objectives are used for goal setting.

The terms used in goal setting can vary considerably. Terms such as aims, goals and objectives are commonly used, however their precise meaning often differs according to the context (i.e., organisation, funding body, educational institution). In this chapter we use two terms:

- Goals the overall desired long-term outcomes; in general, what the individual / team is aiming to achieve or change in their work
- **Objectives** more specific shorter-term actions, behaviours and work practices that are required in order to reach the goal.

How does goal setting work?

Specific and challenging goals / objectives benefit performance by:1,2

- Directing attention / effort towards task-relevant behaviours and actions
- Focusing effort and energy towards relevant behaviours (i.e., setting scope and boundaries for work)
- Encouraging persistence in the face of difficulties or obstacles.

Goals and objectives also provide a reference point for evaluating progress and achievements.

Features of effective goal setting

Setting goals and objectives alone is not likely to enhance motivation or improve performance. In order for goal setting to be most effective, six strategies are recommended:

- 1. Set specific and challenging goals and objectives
- 2. Build and support workers' commitment to achieving the goal and objectives
- 3. Provide feedback on achievement of shorter-term objectives, as well as final goal achievement
- 4. Provide rewards and recognition for achieving shorter-term objectives and final goal achievement
- 5. Ensure sufficient resources and support are available
- 6. Ensure workers have the appropriate knowledge, skills and abilities required to achieve the goal and objectives.

1. Set specific and challenging goals and objectives

Specific goals and objectives:

- Refer to concrete, observable behaviours or work practices (i.e., measurable)
- Clearly indicate the standard / outcome that defines success.

Vague "do your best" goals are of little use (e.g., provide high quality service to clients). Setting specific and challenging goals and objectives is the foundation of effective goal setting.¹

Challenging goals and objectives:

- Are attainable (with effort)
- Are realistic (see Practical Tip "Setting realistic goals and objectives").



The *Worker Performance* chapter provides a detailed discussion of factors that impact on workers' capacity to perform effectively (i.e., meet work goals).

PRACTICAL TIP



Setting realistic goals and objectives

Realistic goals and objectives are achievable with sufficient effort and resources (material, supervisory, and knowledge / skill).

It is very important to ensure that goals / objectives and the desired outcomes focus on work practices that can be controlled by workers.³

Goals / objectives will lose their power to motivate (and hence improve performance) when achievement is heavily reliant on external factors outside workers' control.³

Key steps to setting realistic goals and objectives

- 1. Identify the specific behaviour, action or outcome of interest
- 2. Engage in discussions with individual workers / teams to:
 - Establish a method to accurately assess current levels of achievement (e.g., organisational records, supervisor and / or workers' estimates)
 - · Reach an agreement on the current levels of achievement
 - Discuss factors in the work environment that assist or obstruct workers' capacity to improve on current practices
 - Identify those factors that can be influenced by workers and / or supervisors to help improve work practice
 - In this context, establish a mutually acceptable goal for improving on a particular behaviour, action or outcome
 - Identify shorter-term objectives that indicate the steps required to meet the longer-term goal.

Setting shorter-term objectives can help make a goal seem more manageable and achievable. When goal setting is used for complex or challenging work practices, breaking a goal up into short-term steps or milestones is particularly useful.

To encourage uptake of this approach to goal setting it may be useful for a staff member to model it.

2. Build and support workers' commitment to achieving the goal and objectives

In order for goal setting to be effective, it is essential that workers accept a goal and are committed to its achievement.

Three strategies that can be used to boost commitment are to:

- i. Identify and set goals and objectives in collaboration with workers
- ii. Clearly communicate the benefits of goal achievement for the individual worker, team and / or wider organisation
- iii. Build workers' confidence that they can achieve the goal and objectives.

i. Identify and set goals and objectives in collaboration with workers

Approaching goal setting as a collaborative activity between workers and managers / supervisors is likely to strengthen workers' commitment to a goal.⁴ Ideally, workers and teams should be provided with opportunities to participate in decisions such as identifying and prioritising goals, negotiating timelines, identifying shorter-term objectives related to a long-term goal, setting up processes for providing feedback, negotiating rewards, and identifying key outcomes.

UNDER THE MICROSCOPE



The benefits of collaborative approaches to goal setting

Collaboration in goal setting can have additional benefits besides increasing commitment. Goal setting discussions can:^{1, 5}

- Clarify expectations regarding the goal and desired outcome
- Build people's confidence in their ability to reach a goal
- Provide guidance on where workers should direct most effort
- Facilitate the development of strategies to achieve the goal
- Tap into "expert" knowledge from people who are most familiar with the job regarding likely barriers, problems and difficulties
- Help identify strategies to assist or support effective performance and overcome potential barriers and problems.

In some circumstances collaborative goal setting is not appropriate or feasible. Goals and objectives assigned by others (e.g., a supervisor) can sustain high commitment when:^{1, 2}

- The individual assigning the goal is perceived to be trustworthy, knowledgeable and to have legitimate authority
- A rationale or explanation for the goal is provided
- Reward and recognition is provided for achievement of goals and objectives
- Support and encouragement are provided.

Seeking workers' input on strategies to achieve the assigned goal can also provide workers with a feeling of ownership of the goal and commitment to its achievement.

ii. Clearly communicate the benefits of goal achievement for the individual worker, team and / or wider organisation

Setting a goal essentially involves asking workers to change some aspect of their work practice. As discussed in the Organisational Change chapter, workers' motivation (and commitment) to change is strongly influenced by the perceived usefulness and benefit of the change (i.e., the new goal).

If you are setting a goal for other people – sell it don't tell it! $^{\scriptscriptstyle 5}$

The Organisational Change chapter lists six messages (see below) to motivate workers to accept change. These are also applicable to encouraging workers to commit to achieving a goal.

Commitment to achieving a new goal will be strengthened when workers perceive:6,7

- 1. **Necessity:** The need to achieve the goal is driven by important factors (e.g., social, economic, political, competition, service quality)
- 2. **Discrepancy:** There is a gap between current functioning and a desired level of functioning
- 3. **Appropriateness:** The desired outcomes are valid and legitimate for workers to strive towards
- 4. **Capacity:** Workers have the resources and capacity to implement the required strategies to achieve the desired outcomes
- 5. **Support:** Informal and formal leaders in the organisation support the goal and are committed to its application
- 6. **Personal relevance:** The goal has benefits and advantages for the organisation and workers themselves.

iii. Build workers' confidence that they can achieve the goals and objectives

For workers to be confident that a goal is achievable it is important that the goals and objectives are realistic.

Research on self efficacy (self confidence) has identified a range of strategies that can be used to build confidence.⁸ A successful outcome is most likely to occur when a combination of strategies is used. Effective strategies to build confidence include:

- Successful achievement of goals / desired outcomes demonstrated by others (e.g., trainers, coworkers, work colleagues)
- Positive feedback (i.e., support and encouragement from colleagues and supervisors)
- Success experiences with the behaviour or task.

PRACTICAL TIP



Creating success experiences

To ensure workers experience success, start with modest goals and objectives for work practice that can be achieved relatively easily. After modest goals are achieved, then move on to more advanced work practices that may require higher levels of skill and confidence.

Providing positive feedback, support and encouragement is an essential part of creating "success experiences" and building confidence and motivation.^{1, 2, 5, 9}

3. Provide feedback on achievement of shorter-term objectives, as well as final goal achievement

Goal setting and feedback go hand in hand. Without feedback, goal setting will not be effective.^{1, 2, 9} To sustain motivation and commitment to a goal, it is particularly important to provide feedback on short-term objectives that represent steps towards achieving a longer-term goal.^{1, 2, 9}

It is also recommended that feedback be provided on the process of work (i.e., strategies used to achieve goals and objectives), as well as the final outcomes achieved.^{1, 2, 9}

PRACTICAL TIP



Providing good feedback

Giving feedback can be difficult. It is a skill that needs to be developed with proper training.¹⁰ The following are some helpful hints for providing good feedback:

1. Create a positive context for feedback

- Develop the feedback system in consultation with workers³ (i.e., negotiate issues such as frequency of feedback, format (e.g., face-to-face, written) and focus (e.g., process and / or outcomes of performance))
- Feedback needs to be timely it should be given as close as possible to the occurrence of the behaviour in question to have maximum impact¹¹
- Clarify the purpose of the feedback session (i.e., it should be designed to assist the worker to improve their performance, not to punish or belittle).¹¹

2. Use constructive and positive language

- Avoid sweeping statements words such as "always" or "never" can make people angry and defensive (e.g., "You always avoid difficult cases" or "You never deliver on time")^{10, 12}
- Avoid destructive criticism it can breed resentment, intensify conflict, and may have a negative impact on workers' confidence and motivation.^{13, 14}

3. Focus on behaviours and strategies

- Be specific. Give feedback that includes specific examples of behaviours or actions¹³⁻¹⁵
- Discuss observed behaviour or results, not personality feedback that focuses on traits can be seen as a personal attack (e.g., "You are too passive")¹²⁻¹⁴
- Coach rather than judge suggest strategies for how to do the job better rather than focusing only on what went wrong^{10, 12}
- Focus on aspects of work performance and outcomes over which workers have control (i.e., things they can change).³

4. Tailor feedback to the needs of the individual worker

- Adjust the frequency and depth of feedback to the individual some people may need more feedback than others, depending on their experience and self-awareness¹²
- Provide individual feedback privately (i.e., one-to-one), and group or team feedback publicly (i.e., with all team members present).³

5. Make feedback a two-way communication process

- Feedback needs to be understood by the receiver ask the worker to rephrase your feedback to
 ensure that he / she has understood you clearly¹¹
- Feedback should be followed up with an action plan that is formulated together with the worker. Ensure that there is mutual agreement about deadlines and deliverables, and schedule a meeting to review progress.¹¹

Providing feedback with complex or difficult tasks

Feedback on strategies used to achieve goals and objectives is particularly important for complex or difficult work.¹ There is a risk that setting specific and challenging goals will encourage a focus on the outcomes to be achieved, rather than developing effective performance strategies. Hence, performance on complex or difficult tasks may be impaired. Providing feedback related to performance strategies, and on achievement of short-term objectives, can help avoid this problem.¹

Without feedback, goal setting is not likely to be effective.

4. Provide rewards and recognition for achieving shorter-term objectives and final goal achievement

Similar to providing feedback, recognising and rewarding achievement should focus on both shorterterm objectives as well as achievement of a final desired outcome.



IN PRACTICE

Motivating commitment to a goal by demonstrating treatment benefits

Goals appear in many different forms in the workplace. Changing a particular work practice can be understood as a change of goals (i.e., the target behaviour or outcome is defined as successful performance).

In order to be motivated to achieve a particular work practice goal, workers must perceive the goal to be worthwhile and meaningful (i.e., it has benefits for clients, themselves and / or the organisation). As the following example demonstrates, providing evidence that a new work practice improves treatment outcomes can be a powerful motivator.

In a major Australian teaching hospital nurses were requested to administer the Alcohol Withdrawal Rating Scale (AWRS) and related nursing protocol. It has been clearly established that the implementation of AWRS and a related protocol reduces the incidence of unwanted and dangerous consequences of severe alcohol withdrawal and alcohol withdrawal delirium.

Nurses in this major hospital were well acquainted with the troublesome and disruptive consequences of providing care for the fearful, hallucinating and often combative patient experiencing alcohol withdrawal delirium. This would seem to have been motivation enough to accept an improved sentinel and management system. But required changes in work practice were significant, and involved taking a comprehensive substance use history, and being aware of and assessing all patients on first contact for "an Index of Suspicion for Alcohol Withdrawal." In other words, new goals for effective work practice were being set.

The liaison nurse attached to the hospital-based alcohol and other drug service presented evidence that demonstrated the effectiveness of early interventions for the alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Some nurses were convinced, others were not so sure. Knowledge of this link between a new work practice goal and improved treatment outcomes was more clearly established however by a simple pre:posttest analysis of the number of adverse and critical incidents occurring in two "hotspots" for alcohol withdrawal; the Orthopaedic ward and the Emergency Department. This evidence was further enhanced by comparing the reduced adverse outcomes with a control "hotspot" Gastrointestinal ward. This on-site evidence and the direct involvement of nursing staff was a powerful motivator that enhanced nurses' commitment to, and achievement of, an important work practice goal.

PRACTICAL TIP



What can supervisors and managers do to reward workers?

Developing a valued and effective reward system can be a challenge. Financial rewards are often not an option in the government and non-government sector. Alternatives to financial rewards include:

- Public recognition of effort and contribution
- Opportunities to work on preferred activities (and / or a break from less desirable work)
- Time off or flexi-time
- Support for professional development activities (e.g., financial contribution, time off).

Don't forget – you can also ask the "experts" – the workers themselves. Developing reward systems that are based on workers' needs and preferences is likely to be most effective. Remember – what one person may find rewarding and satisfying may not appeal to another individual.

Most of the goal setting research has focused on the impact of financial incentives on goal achievement (e.g., providing financial bonuses for goal achievement). Providing financial incentives is not always possible for many AOD organisations. The following are some important issues to consider when providing AOD workers with recognition through the use of reward / incentive schemes:^{1, 5}

- 1. If a goal is too difficult (i.e., most people fail), then missing out on a reward can result in frustration and anger
- 2. Rewarding progress towards achieving a goal (i.e., achieving short-term objectives) is most effective with difficult or complex work practices
- 3. Providing rewards and incentives for progress towards a goal can help to sustain workers' effort, and avoid feelings of anger and disappointment from high effort-low reward situations.

IN PRACTICE



Building up goal setting for advanced work practices

A common situation in the AOD field is that new workers get thrown into advanced work practices. This can create a sense of threat to the professional esteem and confidence of the worker that is often perceived as a lack of workplace support. The worker will tend to work within the parameters of their existing practice skills, "do the best they can" and thus compromise the expected outcomes. In the worst case the worker will simply avoid the component(s) of the advanced practice that they are not skilled to perform.

For example, growing awareness of the comorbidity of AOD problems and psychiatric disorder has led to the inclusion of a Mental State Examination (MSE) into first contact assessment in many AOD settings. The Mental State Examination is a formal and systematic examination that clearly needs to be learned and practised under supervision. It is an advanced work practice with important clinical implications. The introduction of "Comprehensive Assessment" protocols without advanced skills training can compromise the wellbeing of the client and worker alike.

It is important to make sure workers are up-skilled before being exposed to advanced work practices (and the associated goals, objectives and expected outcomes).

5. Ensure sufficient resources and support are available

As discussed in the Worker Performance chapter, workers' capacity to perform effectively (i.e., achieve work-related goals and objectives) depends to a significant extent on the supports and constraints that operate in their work environment. For example, access to regular supervision has been identified as a particularly important issue within the AOD sector, especially in non-government organisations.¹⁶⁻¹⁸



The Worker Performance chapter discusses factors in the work environment that may impact on workers' capacity to perform effectively. The Workplace Support chapter discusses strategies for managers / supervisors, coworkers and the organisation to provide support to workers.

The importance of taking into account barriers to effective performance (and goal achievement) is often overlooked in the goal setting process. It is a central consideration, however, as unrealistic expectations can erode workers' motivation and commitment to a goal.

The goal setting process should include discussion with workers regarding strategies to maximise supports and minimise constraints in the work environment.

6. Ensure workers have the appropriate knowledge, skills and abilities required to achieve the goal and objectives

Although perhaps an obvious point, it is worthwhile to take the time to evaluate whether a suitable match exists between the work processes and outcomes required by the goal / objectives, and workers' capacity to achieve the required results.



The *Professional Development* chapter discusses strategies to support and enhance workers' knowledge, skills and abilities.

Troubleshooting

Setting goals for client outcomes

Improved client outcomes are a central goal for treatment providers in the AOD field. However, the relationship between individual or work team practices and client outcomes is often complicated, and can be difficult to assess fairly and accurately.

The factors that influence drug and alcohol use and treatment outcomes are complex, and client relapse is common. Careful consideration, therefore, should be given to goal setting for client outcomes. The key principles of setting specific (measurable) goals that are challenging (but realistic) are particularly important. Where possible, negotiating with individual workers and teams to identify appropriate and realistic goals and objectives is recommended.

Discussion and negotiation with workers about strategies for achieving client outcome goals can still be conducted when client outcome goals are set by external bodies (i.e., funders). When combined with regular feedback, rewards, and support (particularly from supervisors), discussions and negotiations are likely to enhance workers' commitment to achieving assigned or negotiated client outcome goals.

The quantity / quality dilemma

A common goal setting dilemma is distinguishing between goals focused on the quantity of work and goals focused on the quality of work.

Quantity work goals focus on:

- Completing a specific number of products / outcomes (e.g., seven reports completed, nine client interviews conducted by the end of the week)
- Frequency of particular tasks / behaviours performed (e.g., daily updating of case notes).

Quality work goals focus on:

• Achieving certain standards of work that reflects "best practice" (e.g., achieving high levels of client satisfaction with service provision).

If goal setting is focused only on quantity, then performance quality may suffer. The reverse is also likely to occur – goals that focus on quality are likely to result in a decrease in the quantity of workers' output.¹ Setting clear standards and benchmarks for both quantity and quality targets is recommended.

IN PRACTICE



Balancing quantity and quality goals in AOD work – the art of compromise

Flexibility and compromise are useful perspectives when managing quantity and quality goals. For example, keeping up-to-date case notes is an important task for clinicians and counsellors. An excessive adherence to daily updating of case notes may lead to truncated reporting when busy. It may be better to schedule an hour or two later in the week to catch-up, ensuring adequate notes are made (i.e., this is a compromise goal that bridges the need for regular performance and quality output).

Constructive responses to difficulties

Goal setting doesn't guarantee successful or satisfactory performance. As discussed earlier, goal setting needs to be supported by a range of strategies (feedback, supervisory support, resources, sufficient knowledge and skills) to be successful.

An easy mistake to make when evaluating why a goal was not achieved is to focus on the individual worker or team (i.e., looking for a skills deficit, lack of motivation, poor strategies and so on). The influence of the work environment and conditions on performance is often overlooked or underestimated.^{19, 20}

As discussed previously in regard to client outcomes, AOD related work is often challenging, and experiences of success in terms of client outcomes can be difficult to achieve.²¹ Open and constructive discussions with individual workers or teams may identify factors related to the work environment and individuals' knowledge, skills and abilities that create barriers to goal achievement. It may also be helpful to re-evaluate the goal itself (i.e., is it realistic and appropriate?).

IN PRACTICE



Common quantity / quality dilemmas with goal setting in the AOD field

Managing quality and quantity goals is a common dilemma in AOD work. Both types of goals are useful but it is important to be clear about exactly what is being measured. Common examples include:

- Focusing on goals regarding numbers of clients being assessed but not addressing quality of the assessment process
- Providing cross-cultural professional development but not measuring the appropriateness of workers' engagement with Indigenous and Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) clients.

These types of examples demonstrate the importance of having a range of goals, and reviewing goals to ensure they are consistent with the wider context of service provision within an organisation.

Constructive responses to difficulties include:

- Re-evaluating the goal (are the timeframes, outcomes etc. realistic?)
- Reviewing the supports and resources available (are they sufficient?)
- Assessing the strategies and techniques workers / teams are using to achieve the goal (are they appropriate, efficient, effective?)
- Considering the need for further professional development for workers and / or teams (do workers have sufficient knowledge, skill and confidence?).



The *Performance Appraisal* chapter discusses strategies to evaluate worker's performance and provide feedback in a constructive and positive way.

The *Professional Development* chapter discusses a range of professional development activities that can be used to build workers' knowledge, skills and confidence.



PRACTICAL TIP

The most effective goals are SMART goals

Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic Timeframed

Using goal setting to address workforce development challenges

Goal setting can be used to address a range of workforce development challenges. In particular, goal setting can be a useful tool to assist with:

- Successfully managing organisational change
- Supporting and motivating effective performance
- Supporting and motivating effective teamwork.

Successfully managing organisational change

A central component of change at the organisational, team or individual level involves goals relating to change. These goals can be expressed in terms of a change in strategic direction, the addition or removal of specific work practices, or the introduction of new methods of work practice. Organisational change may also involve setting, defining or changing goals and objectives. In all these cases the definition of what is effective, acceptable and successful work practice (i.e., the goal) has changed. Goal setting techniques can be used at each stage of organisational change:

Unfreezing

- Communicating change in terms of specific and challenging goals and objectives to be achieved
- Facilitating workers' acceptance of change (building self confidence, collaborating in setting goals and objectives for change, enhancing team / group norms and support, publicising goal setting within and outside of the organisation).

Changing

- Setting specific and challenging goals and objectives for individual and team work practice change
- Managing change with complex or difficult work practices
- Providing feedback, rewards and incentives linked to achieving the change goals / objectives.

Confirming / supporting

• Setting clear standards and outcomes (specific goals) to evaluate the change process against.

Supporting and motivating effective performance

Goal setting can be a highly effective tool to increase workers' motivation to achieve certain targets / outcomes – in other words to improve their performance.

Goal setting can be used as a tool to improve performance by:

- Clarifying expectations and standards for performance
- Enhancing motivation
- Giving workers a sense of achievement and satisfaction (with successful goal achievement)
- Directing effort and attention towards achieving specific performance outcomes
- Providing the basis for an effective performance feedback system.

Supporting and motivating effective teamwork

Setting team goals can result in significant performance improvements. This is particularly the case with tasks that require coordination and cooperation between team members.²²⁻²⁴

The basic principles for setting goals with individuals and teams are very similar. The foundation of successful group goal setting rests on setting specific and challenging group performance goals rather than easy goals or vague "do your best" exhortations.²²

The most effective approach to team goal setting is to use a combination of both individual and team goals:^{23, 24}

- Assign a specific and challenging team goal
- Set individual goals and objectives in terms of each team member's contribution to the group capacity to perform effectively.

Team performance is likely to be highest when team members are committed to both individual and team goals.²⁴ Commitment to team goals is likely to be strongest when:²²

- Team membership is valued
- The team is highly cohesive
- Team members experience a sense of personal achievement and success when the team achieves its goal.



The *Developing Effective Teams* chapter discusses strategies to enhance team cohesion.

UNDER THE MICROSCOPE



Mechanisms underlying the impact of team goals on performance

It can be useful to understand the mechanisms by which setting team goals help to improve team performance.

Four main mechanisms have been identified:

- 1. Increased energy, effort and attention towards achieving the team $goal^{22}$
- 2. Stronger sense of shared purpose and mutual gain, which in turn facilitates cooperation and helping behaviours^{22, 25}
- 3. Increased communication, coordination and planning between team members^{22, 26}
- 4. Increased evaluation, adaptation and revision of performance strategies.^{22, 26}

Summary

Goal setting appears in many forms in AOD work, including targets for client loads, project deadlines, and changes to work practice that represent best practice. In this chapter we discussed a range of strategies that can be used to support workers' motivation and capacity to achieve their work practice goals. Two consistent messages throughout this chapter are the importance of:

- 1. Providing support, feedback and rewards for the process of striving towards a goal, as well as its final achievement, and
- 2. Setting challenging but realistic goals that accurately reflect workers' capabilities within their working environment.

When work practice goals and objectives are carefully planned and discussed with workers, they can be a powerful tool to support motivation, job satisfaction and effective performance.

Resources for goal setting

This chapter includes the following resources and tools to support effective goal setting:

- Checklist for effective goal setting
- Case study on using goal setting as a tool to improve client care
- Forms and templates: Individual and team goal setting tool forms
- Recommended readings.

References

- 1. Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (1990). A theory of goal setting and task performance. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Latham, G. P., & Locke, E. A. (1991). Self-regulation through goal-setting. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50, 212-247.
- Pritchard, R. D., Roth, P. L., Jones, S. D., Galgay, P. J., & Watson, M. D. (1988). Designing a goal-setting system to enhance performance: A practical guide. Organizational Dynamics, 17, 69-78.
- Klein, H. J., Wesson, M. J., Hollenbeck, J. R., & Alge, B. J. (1999). Goal commitment and the goal-setting process: Conceptual clarification and empirical synthesis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84, 885-896.
- Mitchell, T. R., Thompson, K. R., & George-Falvy, J. (2000). Goal setting: Theory and practice. In C. L. Cooper & E. A. Locke (Eds.), Industrial and organizational psychology: Linking theory with practice (pp. 216-249). Malden, MA: Blackwell.
- 6. Armenakis, A. A., Harris, S. G., & Mossholder, K. W. (1993). Creating readiness for organizational change. Human Relations, 46, 681-703.
- 7. Armenakis, A. A., Harris, S. G., & Feild, H. S. (1999). Making change permanent. A model for institutionalizing change interventions. *Research in Organizational Change and Development, 12,* 97-128.
- 8. Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Neubert, M. J. (1998). The value of feedback and goal setting over goal setting alone and potential moderators of this effect: A meta-analysis. *Human Performance*, 11, 321-335.
- Hauenstein, N. M. A. (1998). Training raters to increase the accuracy of appraisals and the usefulness of feedback. In J. W. Smither (Ed.), *Performance appraisal: State of the art in practice* (pp. 404-444). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- 11. Morfeld, C. (2000). Human resources Guidelines for effective feedback. Suite University. Available: http://www.suite101.com/ article.cfm/human_resources/32564 [2005, 5th January].
- 12. London, M. (2003). Job feedback: Giving, seeking, and using feedback for performance improvement (2nd ed.). Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- 13. Butcher, D. (2002). It takes two to review. *Management Today*, 54-57.
- 14. Cascio, W. F. (1998). Applied psychology in human resource management (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- 15. Losyk, B. (2002). How to conduct a performance appraisal. Public Management, 84, 8-11.
- 16. Pierce, L., & Long, V. (2002). The NADA workforce development project. In A. M. Roche & J. McDonald (Eds.), Catching clouds: Exploring diversity in workforce development in the alcohol and drugs field (pp. 51-54): National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia.
- 17. Kavanagh, D. J., Spence, S. H., Wilson, J., & Crow, N. (2002). Achieving effective supervision. Drug and Alcohol Review, 21, 247-252.
- 18. Shanley, C. (1992). Clinical supervision: An untapped resource for the alcohol and other drug field. In J. White (Ed.), *Drug problems in our society: Dimensions and perspectives.* Adelaide, South Australia: Drug and Alcohol Services Council.
- Taylor, P. (2003). Performance management and appraisal. In M. O'Driscoll, P. Taylor, & T. Kalliath (Eds.), Organisational psychology in Australia and New Zealand (pp. 78-105). Melbourne, Victoria: Oxford University Press.
- Jones, E. E. & Nisbett, R. E. (1972). The actor and the observer: Divergent perceptions of the causes of behavior. In E. E. Jones, D. E. Kanouse, H. H. Kelley, R. E. Nisbett, S. Valins, & B. Weiner (Eds.). *Attribution: Perceiving the causes of behavior* (pp. 79-94). Morristown, NJ: General Learning Press.
- McLellan, A. T., Carise, D., & Kleber, H. D. (2003). Can the national addiction treatment infrastructure support the public's demand for quality care? *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 25, 117-121.
- 22. Weldon, E., & Weingart, L. R. (1993). Group goals and group performance. British Journal of Social Psychology, 32, 307-334.
- 23. Mitchell, T. R., & Silver, W. S. (1990). Individual and group goals when workers are interdependent: Effects of task strategies and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 185-193.
- 24. Crown, D. F., & Rosse, J. G. (1995). Yours, mine, and ours: Facilitating group productivity through the integration of group and individual goals. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 64, 138-150.
- Wright, P. M., George, J. M., Farnsworth, S. R., & McMahan, G. C. (1993). Productivity and extra-role behavior: The effects of goals and incentives on spontaneous helping. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78, 374-381.
- 26. Weldon, E., Jehn, K., & Pradhan, P. (1991). Processes that mediate the relationship between a group goal and improved group performance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61,* 555-569.



Checklist

for effective goal setting



Case Study

Using goal setting as a tool to improve client care



Forms and Templates

- Individual Goal Setting Tool
- Team Goal Setting Tool



Recommended Readings



Checklist for Effective Goal Setting

Not all of these points will be relevant for all work settings and practices. They provide a guide to the basics of good goal setting.

Setting the goal

- 1. Is goal setting appropriate for this situation?
 - Can performance outcomes be clearly identified and measured / assessed?
 - Can feedback on progress towards achieving the goal, and final goal achievement be provided?
- 2. Are the goals clear and specific?
 - Do goals identify concrete, observable behaviours or work practices? (i.e., are they measurable?)
 - Do goals clearly indicate a standard or outcome that defines success (and progress towards successful goal achievement)?
- 3. Are the goals challenging? (i.e., perceived as worthwhile and will develop / extend the worker's skills)
- 4. Do goals include standards for the quantity and quality of work?
- 5. Do workers have the opportunity to participate in goal setting? For example, have individual workers / teams been involved in:
 - Identifying and prioritising key goals?
 - Negotiating timelines?
 - Identifying shorter-term objectives for a longer-term goal?
 - Discussion about the process and timing of feedback?
 - Negotiating rewards for goal achievement?
- 6. If workers' participation is not appropriate or feasible, does the goal-setter (e.g., a supervisor):
 - Have the trust and respect of workers?
 - Provide a rationale or explanation for the goal?
 - Provide reward and recognition for the achievement of goals and objectives?
 - Provide support and encouragement?
- 7. Do workers have the necessary knowledge, skills and abilities to achieve the goal?
- 8. Are sufficient resources available to support workers' capacity to achieve the goal?
 - Are goals realistic (i.e., able to be achieved with available resources)?

9.	Is the importance of	f goal achievement	communicated to the:
----	----------------------	--------------------	----------------------

- Individual worker?
- Team and / or wider organisation?
- External individuals and organisations?

Working towards the goal

10. Have short-term achievement milestones been set?

- 11. Is feedback provided on the process of working towards the goal? For example, is feedback provided on the:
 - Effectiveness of performance strategies?
 - Achievement of short-term milestones?

12. Is feedback provided in an appropriate way? For example:

- Is there a positive context for feedback?
- Is constructive and positive language used in the provision of feedback?
- Does feedback focus on behaviours and strategies?
- Is feedback tailored to the needs of the individual worker?
- Is feedback a two-way communication process?
- 13. Are rewards and recognition provided for achieving short-term milestones?

Achieving the goal

- 14. Will feedback be provided on goal achievement (or otherwise)?
- Will workers know they have succeeded (or know they have not successfully achieved the goal)?
- 15. Will rewards and recognition be provided for goal achievement?

Setting goals for complex / difficult tasks

- 16. Has advice / instruction / professional development been provided regarding effective performance strategies?
- 17. Has a period of goal-free practice been scheduled? (particularly important if workers are learning new tasks / behaviours)
- 18. Has an allowance been made for a time-lag between goal setting and outcomes (i.e., improved performance)?
- 19. Will feedback be provided on the process of achieving the goal (in particular the effectiveness of performance strategies)?

Ι

()



Overview

This case study describes a goal setting intervention conducted in mental health hospitals and homes for individuals with chronic mental illness. Goal setting strategies were implemented to improve the quality of treatment provision and client outcomes. Both therapists and clients received a goal setting intervention.

The therapist and client interventions were based on Organisational Behaviour Management (OBM) techniques which included:

- Goal setting
- Feedback
- Positive reinforcement.

This case study describes the goal setting, feedback and reinforcement interventions received by therapists that focused on changing their professional practice.

The intervention program

Therapists underwent a one-day intensive training session which instructed them on writing behavioural goals as well as providing verbal feedback, graphical feedback, and reinforcement to clients.

A goal setting approach to client treatment sessions was introduced by making a number of changes to the structure and content of therapist-client sessions. The success of these changes was measured by monitoring weekly half-hour therapy sessions over a period of 10 weeks.

1. Treatment plans

Therapists and clients constructed treatment plans which outlined three treatment goals, how the goals would be achieved and the desired outcomes of the goals. Clients signed the treatment plan to confirm their acceptance of the conditions and any intention to comply with medication.

2. Session notes

Therapists were taught how to monitor and reinforce patients' goal progress. Session notes were redesigned with allocated sections for:

- Goals
- Client progress in attaining goals
- Session content
- Charts to track goal directed behaviour graphically.

Case Study page 1

3. Providing feedback and reinforcement to therapists

Therapists provided administration with a number of documents including session notes with attached copies of graphs, records of client hospitalisations and incidents, audio tapes and behaviour sampling sheets. The Director then provided feedback over the telephone regarding:

- Accuracy of notes
- Submittal of notes (timeliness)
- Client progress toward achieving goals (by examining the goal progress of two randomly selected clients)
- The extent goals were addressed by session notes and audiotapes.

Written feedback relating to the timeliness of paperwork submission and the accuracy of notes and graphs was provided in a newsletter that allowed therapists to monitor their own performance.

Therapists received praise when session notes were completed correctly and promptly and recorded medication compliance, hospitalisations, incident reports and session records.

Therapists who completed session notes on time and who completed 90% of their notes accurately for three weeks consecutively received a certificate signed by the Executive Director. The therapist returning sheets with (a) the lowest mean time and (b) the highest degree of accuracy received a monetary reward (\$25).

Results

The goal setting intervention was successful in changing therapists' professional practice. Specifically, therapist behaviours improved in a number of areas, including:

- Setting appropriate (i.e., specific, measurable and challenging) goals
- Improvement in the quality of treatment plans
- Increases in client goal progress
- Increases in client activity level
- Decreases in the amount of time required to submit paperwork.

In addition, improvements in client behaviour were observed in relation to:

- Client progress towards goals
- Improvements in behaviours (e.g., hygiene, social functioning)
- Improvements in Patient Activity Checklist (PAC) scores.

Conclusion

This case study demonstrates the use of goal setting and feedback as an effective strategy to encourage and support professional practice change, and in turn, improve client outcomes. Key strategies of the intervention were training for therapists on goal setting techniques, and the provision of regular ongoing feedback that allowed therapists to track the success of their attempts to change their professional practice.

Case Study page 2



()



A useful goal setting strategy is to set long-term goals and shorter-term objectives that indicate steps towards achieving a final

Objectives - more specific shorter-term actions, behaviours and work practices that are required in order to reach the goal Goals - the overall desired long-term outcomes; what you are aiming to achieve or change in your work

urrent goal:	or the time period:

PRACTICAL TIP	The most effective goals are SMART goals	Specific	Measurable	Achievable
	goal.			

Realistic (set within a) Timeframe

Review date		
Problem-solving strategies		
Potential barriers / difficulties		
Supports / resources required		
Objectives		

Team Goal Setting Tool

A useful goal setting strategy is to set long-term goals and shorter-term objectives that indicate steps towards achieving a final goal.

Objectives – more specific shorter-term actions, behaviours and work practices that are required in order to reach the goal Goals - the overall desired long-term outcomes; what you are aiming to achieve or change in your work

Current team goal: My goal as a team member:
For the time period:

E	
4	
[0]	
M	
1	
U	
1	
4	
Ŷ	
11	
Δ	
n	
\sim	R
\succ	ŝ
	E.

The most effective goals are SMART goals Specific Measurable Achievable

Acnievable Realistic (set within a) Timeframe

Review date		
Problem-solving strategies		
Potential barriers / difficulties		
Supports / resources required		
Objectives (for contribution to the team goal)		







Latham, G.P. (2003). Goal-setting: A five-step approach to behavior change. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50,* 212-247.

This paper provides a good overview of the key principles of effective goal setting. It provides useful insights into the process of goal setting including the importance of goal commitment, leadership and the measurement of goals and outcomes.

Pritchard, R.D., Roth, P.L., Jones, S.D., Galgay, P.J., & Watson, M.D. (1988). Designing a goal-setting system to enhance performance: A practical guide. *Organizational Dynamics*, *17*, 69-78.

This article provides a useful guide for developing goal setting systems. Important considerations for the development and implementation of a goal setting program are outlined. These include factors such as providing feedback, measurement of goals and outcomes, and setting goal difficulty. The article also highlights common barriers faced during implementation of goal setting systems.

Locke, E.A. (2001). Motivation by goal setting. In R.T. Golemblewski (Ed.), *Handbook of organizational behavior* (2nd ed.). New York: Marcel Dekker.

This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of goal setting. The rationale for goal setting as a motivational technique, and strategies to maximise the impact of goal setting on motivation and performance are discussed with reference to relevant research. This chapter is most useful for readers interested in workforce development theory and research.















